

Policy for Quality Assurance

Version no.	VO 1.0
Approved by and date	Academic Senate 2024-04-24, Executive Board 2024-04-30
Valid as of	2024-04-30
Next review due	Fall 2025, concurrently with the Annual Report on the Quality Assurance System by the Evaluation Board
Responsible Committee	Evaluation Board
Related policies or documents	- Mission Statement for Education (Bildungsleitbild)
	- Academic Constitution
	- Admission and Enrollment Policy
	- Code of Academic Integrity
	- Constructor Community Standards
	- Evaluation Policy
	- Gender Equality and Diversity Plan
	 Guidelines to ensure good academic practice and for handling academic misconduct in teaching and research
	- Policies for Bachelor Studies
	- Policies for Master Studies
	- Regulation on the Entrance Examination for University Admission
	- Rules of Procedure of the Evaluation Board
	- Role of Study Program Chairs, 2022
External references	 Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area 2015
	 Qualifikationsrahmen für deutsche Hochschulabschlüsse - Im Zusammenwirken von Hochschulrektorenkonferenz, Kultusministerkonferenz und Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung erarbeitet und von der Kultusministerkonferenz am 16.02.2017 beschlossen (HQR)
	- Bremische Verordnung zur Studienakkreditierung (BremAkkVO)
	- Bremisches Hochschulgesetz
Audience	Internal and external stakeholders
Location	Website

Contents

Ι.	General Terms		
	I.1	Principles and scope	3
	1.2	Changing this Policy	3
	1.3	Definitions	3
II. Concept of the Quality Assurance framework			4
	II.1	Goals	4
	II.2	Instruments	5
	11.3	Processes	5
III.	Organization of the Quality Assurance system		6
	III.1	Scope of application	6
	III.2	Participants and responsibilities	7
	III.3	Conflict of interest within the Quality Assurance system	9
	III.4	Quality Assurance tools	9
	III.5	Data protection	9
	III.6	Involvement of external stakeholders	9
	Anne	ex:	11
	- N	Mission Statement for Education (Bildungsleitbild).	11

I. General Terms

I.1 Principles and scope

The Academic Constitution of Constructor University is based on a joint commitment to excellence and the highest quality standards in study, teaching, research, and management, to academic freedom and integrity in research and teaching, to the equality of different social groups at the university, and to the wise and efficient handling of existing human, material, and non-material resources, and the specifics of a private university. Quality management at Constructor University strives towards continuously improving teaching and research.

Constructor University has defined a Mission Statement for Education (*Bildungsleitbild*) that adheres to these principles and values.

The Quality Assurance system aligns with the Mission Statement for Education and is committed to continuously enhancing the quality of education and of student experience. Additionally, the system includes mechanisms for its own ongoing improvement.

The purpose of the Quality Assurance Policy is to serve as an effective tool, enabling all participants, whether directly or indirectly involved, to actively engage in the continuous improvement cycle of all processes within the Quality Assurance system.

I.2 Changing this Policy

In accordance with the Academic Constitution, which assigns the responsibility for implementing all QM measures to the Academic Senate, changes to the Quality Assurance Policy must be approved by the Academic Senate. The Evaluation Board can make recommendations for changes.

I.3 Definitions

The following definitions are adapted from the Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area 2015 and ISO 9000 - Quality Management 2015.

- Continuous improvement: recurring activity to enhance performance.
- Monitoring: the process of determining the status of a system, process, product, service, or activity. Involves checking, supervising, or critically observing. Usually entails determining the status of an object at different stages or times.
- PDCA cycle: plan-do-check-act, also known as PDSA cycle (where S stands for study). Plan phase: establish objectives and processes required to deliver the desired results. Do phase: carry out the objectives from the previous step. Check phase: the data and results gathered from the do phase are evaluated. Data is compared to the expected outcomes to see any similarities and differences. Act phase: also called "adjust", this act phase is where a process is improved. Records from the "do" and "check" phases help identify issues with the process.
- Process: set of interrelated or interacting activities that use inputs to deliver an intended result.
- Procedure: specified way to carry out an activity or a process.
- Quality: the degree to which a set of inherent characteristics of an object fulfills requirements. It encompasses both the alignment of objectives with outcomes, signifying the achievement of predefined objectives, and the relevance and value of these objectives to stakeholders. This involves the extent to which objectives fulfill stakeholder needs and expectations.

- Quality Assurance: encompasses all activities within the continuous improvement cycle, including assurance and enhancement activities.
- Quality Assurance system: an integrated set of policies, processes, and procedures used by a higher education institution to ensure and improve the quality of its education and related services in alignment with the institution's goals and in accordance with external standards and guidelines. This system is characterized by its focus on continuous improvement, stakeholder engagement, and the establishment of a quality culture within the institution. Organizations implement Quality Assurance systems to ensure quality is maintained and improved upon at all levels, both internally and externally.
- Quality Management: the aspect of overall management function that determines and implements the quality policy, including setting quality objectives and the processes to achieve these objectives through quality planning, quality assurance, and quality improvement.
- Quality Policy: a policy related to quality, generally consistent with the overall policy of the organization; provides a framework for the setting of quality objectives.
- Review: determination of the suitability, adequacy or effectiveness of an object to achieve established objectives.

Abbreviations used in the Policy for Quality Assurance:

AS	Academic Senate
EB	Executive Board
QA	Quality Assurance
QM	Quality Management
UCE	University Committee on Education
UCQM	University Committee on Quality Management
SPC	Study Program Chair

II. Concept of the Quality Assurance framework

II.1 Goals

With the Mission Statement for Education, the University commits to a multi-disciplinary, holistic approach alongside exposure to cutting-edge digital technologies and societal challenges. Through this commitment, Constructor University aims to cultivate academic excellence, intellectual competencies, societal engagement, as well as professional and scientific skills, thereby preparing tomorrow's leaders for a sustainable and peaceful future.

Three core goals in the Mission Statement for Education are academic excellence, personal development, and employability, each resonating with the foundational principle of the mission statement for education: internationality, digital technology, and enablement.

II.2 Instruments

Constructor University has outlined the building blocks and main instruments essential for achieving its core goals: academic excellence, personal development, and employability, within its study programs and student experience.

A. Academic excellence

Building blocks: relevance, research, student-centered learning. Main instruments:

- Appointment and promotion policies fostering the excellence of academic staff.
- Innovative forms of learning and teaching.
- Recruitment of talented students.
- Academic advising.
- Research-oriented modules.
- Spectrum of in-presence and online education.

B. Personal development

Building blocks: individual competence; intercultural competence; societal agency. Main instruments:

- Multi-disciplinary approach.
- Community Impact Project.
- International and diverse classroom and campus.
- Extra-curricular activities.
- Intercultural exposure.

C. Employability

Building blocks: professional competence; multidisciplinary competence; career skills. Main instruments:

- CONSTRUCTOR track (4C model).
- Industry-based instructors.
- Industry projects.
- Student Career Support.
- Internships.
- Partnerships with companies in the CONSTRUCTOR ecosystem.

These outlined instruments are central to achieving the core goals, though they are not the only ones available. Guidelines that provide an institutional context for each of these instruments, aimed at facilitating their realization within the study programs or student experience have been defined.

II.3 Processes

Constructor University has defined the decision-making processes, functions, and responsibilities for the lifecycle of study programs. This includes their introduction, monitoring, review, further development, and discontinuation.

Additionally, the university has established its own processes and procedures for the accreditation and reaccreditation of these programs, all within the framework of its Quality Assurance system.

All QM processes related to study programs have been formally approved by the Academic Senate and are accessible on the university's intranet. They provide detailed information on each step of the processes, who is involved, what their role and responsibilities are, and which documents need to be taken into consideration or be produced. They also include clear timelines. An overview of these processes is provided below.

- Program initiation, approval and accreditation: this process outlines the steps from the program proposal, through the plausibility check and strategic assessment, to the academic-technical review, approval, and finally accreditation.
- Program monitoring and development: this process involves the annual monitoring of study programs to ensure their continuous improvement in alignment with high academic quality standards. The annual program monitoring takes place during the Round Tables with students in each study program.
- Substantial and nonsubstantial changes to a program. This process distinguishes between "substantial changes," and "non-substantial changes," managed solely according to the internal quality assurance decision-making processes. Substantial changes, on the other hand, require the approval of the Academic Senate and the Executive Board, as well as the notification of the Evaluation Board.
- Reaccreditation: programs require first-time accreditation and then reaccreditation at eight-year intervals or earlier in the case of substantial changes to the program, unless the program is to be discontinued, in which case the discontinuation process applies. In the case of reaccreditation, an internal review is conducted prior to the Academic Round Table. This offers an excellent opportunity for making substantial program changes before the external evaluation based on the subject-related accreditation criteria. This process outlines the steps from periodic internal review through handling substantial and non-substantial changes to reaccreditation.
- Discontinuation of a program: a study program may be discontinued for various reasons, such as loss of strategic relevance, organizational challenges, or academic considerations. This process outlines the steps from making the discontinuation decision to implementing the discontinuation.

Constructor University is committed to providing quality assurance for every dimension that impacts students, beyond the design and approval of study programs. This includes student-centered learning, teaching and assessment, student admission, progression, recognition, and certification processes. The main policies of reference include the Regulation on the Entrance Examination for University Admission, Admission and Enrollment Policy, Policies for Bachelor Studies, and Policies for Master Studies.

III. Organization of the Quality Assurance system

III.1 Scope of application

The Quality Assurance system at Constructor University is organized according to the Plan-Do-Check-Act cycle.

- The Academic Senate and the Executive Board are actively contributing to and are responsible for the PLAN phase. They define strategic documents and policies, ensuring the establishment of a QA system capable of effectively promoting, guiding, and verifying the achievement of the goals outlined in the Mission Statement for Education. Academic Operations, QM department, UCE, UCQM promote and support the implementation of the planned initiatives.
- The Schools, including Study Program Chairs, Faculty, and Students, are actively involved in the DO phase, engaging in and contributing to teaching activities. Academic

Operations, QM department, UCE, and UCQM play supportive roles in monitoring all activities carried out in this phase, thereby contributing significantly to the CHECK phase.

- The Evaluation Board and the External Experts are the main actors responsible for the CHECK phase. They provide suggestions for the continuous improvement of teaching and, where applicable, provide recommendations and conditions. The Evaluation Board also plays an essential role in disseminating internal best practices, which is crucial for the ongoing enhancement of the Quality Assurance system.
- The Academic Senate, the Executive Board, and the Schools, including Study Program Chairs, Faculty, and students, are the main actors responsible in the ACT phase. This phase focuses on identifying and implementing improvement actions, with the Executive Board and the Academic Senate having the authority to revise decisions made in the PLAN phase as necessary. Academic Operations, QM, UCE, and UCQM support the implementation of these actions and/or the dissemination of best practices. Ultimately, the Academic Senate and the Executive Board make the final decisions on the accreditation or reaccreditation of programs.

III.2 Participants and responsibilities

This section delineates the key actors involved within the Quality Assurance system of Constructor University. The actors include: Academic Operations, Academic Senate, Evaluation Board, Executive Board, External experts, Faculty, Students, UCE, UCQM, QM department. Each actor has specific functions and responsibilities within the Quality Assurance system. Additionally, the section specifies relevant documentation, including inputs required and outputs generated within the system.

- Academic Operations is concerned with the strategic and operational matters related to research and teaching. This includes the planning and development of research profiles, as well as ensuring quality assurance in study programs through monitoring and upholding high-quality standards in collaboration with faculty and Study Program Chairs. The Head of Academic Operations (Provost) leads this department, overseeing all faculty, research, and teaching staff. Key documents such as student surveys, academic data reports, and preparations for Round Tables and Yearly Orientation Talks form the input. A report detailing action points is produced as the output. Academic Operations receives support from the Deans' Office, the QM department, and UCQM and consults with student representatives and Administrative Service Departments.
- The Academic Senate is the main executive body for academic co-determination at Constructor University. Its tasks comprise the participation in and the monitoring of all academic matters in teaching and research. The university-wide regulations for quality management are determined by the Academic Senate, who is responsible for the implementation of all measures, including deciding on the accreditation or the reaccreditation of programs. Documents such as the mission statement for education, academic policies, minutes, and records of improvement measures serve as key materials. The Academic Senate receives support from Academic University Committees and the QM Department and consults with the Executive Board.
- The Evaluation Board is the main body responsible for the continuous monitoring and evaluation of the Quality Assurance system at Constructor University. Furthermore, it plays a critical role in the central processes of monitoring, accrediting, and reaccrediting study programs. Documents such as Round Table reports and preliminary accreditation and reaccreditation reports serve as input, with the Annual report on the QA system as output. The Evaluation Board receives support from the QM department and UCQM, and consults with External experts.
- The Executive Board implements strategic content, financial, and personnel development based on the strategic plan adopted by the Board of Governors. It also

decides on the accreditation or reaccreditation of programs in collaboration with the Academic Senate. Key document: strategic plan. The EB is supported by the Strategy Unit, QM department, and Academic Operations, and consults with the Academic Senate.

- External experts are responsible for the subject-specific assessment of programs during the accreditation or reaccreditation processes. Documents include the annual report on the Quality Assurance system from the Evaluation Board and the preliminary accreditation and reaccreditation program reports as inputs, along with the evaluation of subject-related criteria as output. They receive support from the Evaluation Board and the QM department.
- Faculty provides high-quality education and supports the continuous improvement of education quality, in alignment with the Mission Statement for Education. Key documents include student surveys and the Yearly Orientation Report with action points. The Faculty receives support from Academic Operations, the Deans' Office, and the QM department. They consult with students and Administrative Service Departments.
- Students provide essential feedback on the quality of study programs and the overall student experience, contributing to the continuous improvement of education at Constructor University. They contribute to the development, implementation, and evaluation of academic policies and practices. Key documents include surveys. e.g. course evaluations and the student experience survey). Students receive support from the Academic Senate, Academic Operations, specific Academic Committees (such as the UCQM and UCE), and the QM department. They consult with Administrative Service Departments, faculty, and Study Program Chairs.
- Study Program Chairs participate in Round Tables with students, organized and coordinated by the QM department. They act as a contact point for students regarding critical issues in the design, delivery of study programs, and the assessment of outcomes. They regularly evaluate feedback from students, instructors, and external reviewers, share these insights with the study program team, and initiate appropriate action where required. Study Program Chairs also support program and system accreditation by providing relevant input for regular program reviews in response to independent review panels, considering their feedback, and implementing agreed-upon changes. Key documents include student surveys and academic data reports, with action points after the Round Tables serving as output. They receive support from Academic Operations, the Deans' Office, and the QM Department and consult with faculty, students, and Administrative Service Departments.
- University Committee on Education. The main tasks of the UCE include drafting and monitoring policies, developments, decisions, and processes related to teaching, learning, and assessment. The Committee's output consists of minutes and draft decision papers for the Academic Senate. It receives support from the QM department and the Deans' Office and consults with other Academic University Committees to ensure comprehensive consideration of educational matters.
- The University Committee on Quality Management is responsible for ensuring the smooth, effective, and efficient functioning of the QM system, including its processes, procedures, and tools. Additionally, it organizes the implementation of all QM measures. The Committee creates and utilizes documents such as QM templates, surveys, guidelines, minutes, and decision papers to fulfill its responsibilities. It receives support from the QM Department and consults with other Academic University Committees to ensure comprehensive consideration of quality management matters.
- The Quality Management department is tasked with creating data reports and managing QA documents. It facilitates top-down and bottom-up information flows within the institution. Additionally, the department drafts and submits the Quality report

following each program accreditation to the Accreditation Council. Key documents managed by the department include minutes, reports, QA tools, and the Quality report. It receives support from Administrative Service Departments and consults with UCQM, Academic Operations, students, faculty, including Study Program Chairs, to ensure comprehensive quality management processes.

III.3 Conflict of interest within the Quality Assurance system

Academic Operations and the Evaluation Board play central roles in supporting and promoting Quality Management measures, including monitoring the quality management processes within the Quality Assurance system. To ensure the system is as effective as possible, academic members of the Evaluation Board may not simultaneously serve as members of Academic Operations (as Provost or Deans).

There are no incompatibilities within the system related to student participation and participation by administrative staff at any level.

III.4 Quality Assurance tools

Constructor University utilizes several quality assurance tools to support the implementation of the Quality Assurance system. The main ones are described below.

- Academic data reports: Constructor University collects, analyzes, and uses relevant information for the effective management of its programs and student support services.
 It conducts data-supported, cohort-based student progress monitoring to gather insights on the academic experience and the demographics of the student body.
- Student surveys: Constructor University conducts several surveys with the student body. The surveys are described in detail in the Evaluation Policy and are not mandatory. The survey questions are defined together with students, and every time they are revised, students are involved.
- Internal analyses of study programs: these analyses are conducted by the Evaluation Board in case critical issues described in the Round Table Reports require in-depth analysis.
- Annual Report on the Quality Assurance system: this report provides an analysis of the annual monitoring of study programs with a focus on positive highlights as well as critical aspects, initiatives, and achievements of the university with respect to quality culture. It also includes a report on the implementation of the Mission Statement for Education.

III.5 Data protection

The provisions of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), the Federal Data Protection Act (BDSG) and the Bremen Implementation Act to the EU General Data Protection Regulation, along with Constructor University's Regulation on the collection and processing of personal data, are applicable.

Access to the results of student surveys is regulated by the Evaluation Policy. Academic data reports are available to the Provost, Deans, and Study Program Chairs.

The Evaluation Board has access to aggregated data regarding the perceived quality of study programs by students and may request disaggregated data if justified by severe critical issues, which must be properly documented.

III.6 Involvement of external stakeholders

The involvement of external stakeholders in the Quality Assurance system and QM processes is essential for Constructor University. External academic experts participate in the academic-technical review for the introduction and approval of new study programs, in

the internal periodic review of programs for the reaccreditation process, and in the evaluation of study programs during the Academic Round Table for accreditation purposes. Additionally, one of the academic members of the Evaluation Board is external. The details of their involvement and contributions are described in the QM processes, Section II.3.

IV. Monitoring and review

As part of its comprehensive quality assurance framework, Constructor University conducts regular annual reviews. These reviews occur at various levels, including the study program and student support levels, as well as within the quality assurance system itself, including the quality management processes.

- Study programs and student support services: Student experience and academic quality are reviewed annually through Round Tables and student surveys. The results, including defined improvement actions, are consolidated in the annual monitoring review at the end of the academic year, conducted by the Evaluation Board. The document output is reflected in the Annual Report on the Quality Assurance system, which includes suggestions and recommendations for continuous improvement, if necessary.
- Quality assurance system: The annual monitoring review provides an opportunity for the Evaluation Board to evaluate the effectiveness of the various Quality Management processes that contribute to the implementation of the Quality Assurance system as well as the implementation of the Mission statement for Education.

The Annual Report on the Quality Assurance system is submitted to the Academic Senate and the Executive Board for consideration during the PLAN phase

V. Annex:

- Mission Statement for Education (Bildungsleitbild).

